#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

VOLKSWAGEN OF AMERICA, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

WALTER LEIGHTON LONG and FLORENCE LONG, his wife,

Respondents.

CASE NO.: 64,785

FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO.: AS-291

FILED

EEB 21 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER, VOLKSWAGEN OF AMERICA, INC.

J. Richard Caldwell, Jr., Esq.,
Dennis J. Wall, Esquire,
Michael R. Levin, Esquire, of
RUMBERGER, KIRK, CALDWELL,
CABANISS & BURKE
Professional Association
11 East Pine Street
Post Office Box 1873
Orlando, Florida 32802

(305) 425-1802

George M. Meros, Jr., Esquire
CARLTON, FIELDS, WARD, MMMANUEL,
SMITH & CUTLER, P.A.
410 Lewis State Bank Bldg.
Post Office Drawer 190

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a review of a decision of the First District Court of Appeal rendered January 5, 1984, as further clarified by an order dated January 25, 1984, and from a final judgment for damages, as amended, in an automobile products liability case involving personal injuries.

References to the transcript of testimony will be indicated by the symbol (Tr.), and references to the Record will be indicated by the symbol (R). Walter Leighton Long and Florence Long, Plaintiffs in the trial court, will be referred to herein interchangeably as respondents or plaintiffs. Volkswagen of America, Inc. was the defendant in the trial court, and will be referred to herein alternatively as petitioner or defendant.

"Seat belt" will be referred to herein interchangeably as "safety belts", "seat belts", "occupant restraint systems", and "occupant restraint devices". These references all refer to a lap belt and shoulder harness occupant restraint system, such as was present in the 1974 Volkswagen Super Beetle.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arose from an accident involving a 1974 Volkswagen Super Beetle on August 1, 1976 on Interstate 10 near Live Oak in Suwannee County, Florida. The vehicle was traveling at a speed of 50-55 miles per hour when a blowout of the right rear tire occurred, causing the accident. Uncontroverted testimony adduced at trial revealed that the blowout commencing the accident sequence was caused by a badly worn right rear tire. (Tr. 631-633). The vehicle left the roadway, struck a guardrail, causing it to roll over. Walter Leighton Long, plaintiff and respondent, claimed injuries as a result of this rollover accident. Plaintiff-respondent, Florence Long, claimed damages for loss of consortium. (R 1-9). The respondents made no claim for the blowout of the tire.

The operative complaint sounded in theories of negligence, breach of implied warranties of fitness and for a particular purpose, and strict liability. (R 150-157). The answer raised the affirmative defense of comparative negligence on the part of each or both of the plaintiffs, as well as the defense of changed condition of the automobile after it had left the custody and control of defendant. (R 165).

The verdict form submitted to the jury required the jury to measure the fault of both plaintiffs against Volkswagen of America, Inc., the sole defendant in a single question. There was no claim against Florence Long.

On February 7, 1983, the jury found that Walter Long was 35% at fault, that Florence Long, the driver of the Volkswagen at the time of the accident, was 45% at fault, and that the defendant, Volkswagen of America, Inc. (hereinafter "VWoA"), was 20% at fault. The jury assessed the total amount of damages of Walter Long in the sum of Two Million and 00/100 Dollars (\$2,000,000), and awarded Florence Long zero damages. (R 540-41). Final judgment was entered thereon, awarding damages to Mr. Long against VWoA for 20% of the total sum, Four Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$400,000). (R 542-543).

Post-trial motions were filed by all parties (R 545-548, 604-605), and were heard on March 25, 1983. (R Volume XII, pages 1-52). Four days later, the trial judge entered the order amending final judgment, (R 695-696), and subsequently entered an order denying all post-trial motions which had not been treated by the order amending final judgment. (R 694).

By the order amending final judgment, the trial court remolded the jury's verdict and assessed against VWoA, the lone defendant, the negligence which the jury attributed to the plaintiff, Florence Long. Her percentage of fault determined by the jury, 45%, together with the percentage of fault attributed by the jury to VWoA, 20%, amounted to 65%. The trial judge entered judgment against the defendant for 65% of the damages of Walter Long, which percentage resulted in the sum of One Million Three Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$1,300,000) being assessed against VWoA.

An appeal followed to the First District Court of Appeal. On appeal, VWoA argued that reversible error resulted from denial of VWoA's proffered "seat belt" evidence, that fundamental reversible error resulted from the use of the verdict form required by the trial court, and that petitioner's constitutional rights were denied. VWoA also argued that error resulted from the trial court's rulings allowing plaintiffs' witness, Paul Lamar, to offer expert testimony including surprise defect allegations, and in excluding witnesses offered as experts by VWoA to rebut the surprise defect allegation. The fourth issue raised on appeal was the excessiveness of the verdict reached by the jury.

In an opinion filed December 5, 1983, the First District Court of Appeal issued a per curiam affirmance. Upon VWoA's motion for stay of mandate, the First District Court of Appeal issued a clarified opinion, filed January 25, 1984, indicating that the First District Court of Appeal expressly relied upon and adopted the reasoning in Lafferty v. Allstate Ins. Co., 425 So. 2d 1147 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). The clarified opinion also cited Insurance Co. of N. Am. v. Pasakarnis, 425 So. 2d 1141 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) and Brown v. Kendrick, 192 So. 2d 49 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966) as authority for its affirmance on the seat belt issue. This Court subsequently accepted jurisdiction.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In its five counts, the operative complaint contained allegations proceeding under theories of negligence, breaches

of implied warranty, strict liability, "failure to warn", and Florence Long's alleged loss of consortium. Each of these theories were based upon the following allegations of design defects which allegedly caused the claimed damages in the single vehicle rollover accident: (1) the subject vehicle, a 1974 Volkswgen Super Beetle, "was equipped with a seating mechanism which, upon impact, would bend or break and throw the occupant of the seat into the rear seat so as to cause serious personal injury"; (2) the vehicle in question "had a center of gravity too far to the rear and too high for tire speed"; (3) "said vehicle had understeer and oversteer propensity and had an increased likelihood of rollover." (R 150-57, paragraphs 6, 7, 15, 16, 23, 24 and 29).

The trial began on January 31, 1983. The plaintiff, Walter Long, testified at trial that he was thrown into the back seat and sustained his injuries because the right front passenger seat "broke loose" during the accident. (Tr. 166-169, 235-238).

The plaintiffs' witness, Paul Lamar, testified that the 1974 Volkswagen Super Beetle was "extremely dangerous" due to a "combination of defects". (Tr. 401-403, 408-410). Mr. Lamar testified that the vehicle had a propensity to rollover because of an allegedly high center of gravity and narrow wheel track, (Tr. 401-403, 408-410, 447-449), and that the vehicle's handling characteristics adversely affected the vehicle's behavior during emergency maneuvers commenced by a tire blowout. (Tr. 400-412).

Mr. Lamar also made a "surprise" allegation regarding a lack of a rear stabilizer bar. This allegation was not made either in the operative complaint or in answers to interrogatories. This allegation was disclosed to VWoA on Friday, January 28, 1983, with the trial scheduled to commence on January 31, 1983.

VWoA made a proffer of the testimony of Mr. David Blaisdell, a crash safety expert of unchallenged qualifications, who would testify regarding the injuries sustained in this accident by Mr. Long's failure to use the available seat belt, and the manner in which the damages occurred as the direct proximate result therefrom. (Tr. 689-691). As stated by Volkswagen's counsel during the course of the proffer:

And then we would ask the ultimate question, do you have an opinion if Mr. Long had worn the seat belt provided in this car he would have received the forces sufficient to cause this severe injury. And his opinion would be that is correct, that is if he wore the belt, the forces would not have been severe enough to cause this injury. Then we would have asked him whether or not in his opinion, whether or not Mr. Long would have remained in the seat and not been subjected to the forces that were occasioned in this accident, and he would say, we believe, yes.

(Tr. 690-691) (emphasis added). The trial judge rejected this proffer and excluded the testimony of the expert, Mr. Blaisdell, regarding the causal connection between the nonusage of the seat belts and Mr. Long's injury. (Tr. 685).

At the close of trial when considering the verdict form to be submitted to the jury, the trial judge referred to the Florida Law Weekly Report of the decision in the case of

Lafferty v. Allstate Ins. Co., 8 Fla. L.W. DCA 1, 1-3 (Fla. 4th DCA, Case No. 81-279, opinion filed December 15, 1982). Responding to discussion regarding the appropriate verdict form, the trial judge stated:

THE COURT: Okay. I got y'all a verdict. Here's your verdict in this case of Lorraine Lafferty. All you have got to do is revise the first question as to the three things, using the one y'all have agreed on here, and then this verdict has the other things you need. All you will have to do is put the Longs in there and that will do it.

(Tr. 1014). The verdict form thus submitted to the jury on Walter Long's claim required the jury to compare, at one and the same time and in the same question, the respective degrees of fault of Florence Long, Walter Long and VWoA. (R 540-541). The question form contained in the <u>Lafferty</u> verdict form is appropriate for a case which involves a single plaintiff and two defendants. This case, however, involves two plaintiffs and a single defendant. No claim in this case had been made by Walter Long against Florence Long.

The jury returned its verdict assessing degrees of fault as follows: Walter Long, 35%; Florence Long, 45%; and VWoA, 20%. The jury assessed total damages in favor of Mr. Long at Two Million and 00/100 Dollars (\$2,000,000); the jury assessed zero damages for Mrs. Long. (R 540-541).

Thereafter, the Honorable trial Court entered the following judgments and orders: Final Judgment dated February 8, 1983 (R 542-543); Order Amending Final Judgment, dated March 29, 1983 (R 695-696); and the Order Denying all of the Defendant's Post-Trial Motions (R 694).

#### INTRODUCTION

This brief presents two issues for consideration by the Court. Both issues were properly briefed and argued before the First District Court of Appeal below. The first issue presented — the admissibility of seat belt evidence — is the ground upon which this Court accepted jurisdiction. The second issue — the trial court's apportionment of damages based upon a defective comparative negligence jury verdict form — raises fundamental constitutional issues surrounding application of comparative negligence in a multi-plaintiff-single defendant case. Petitioner strongly urges the Court to exercise its discretion to consider and decide both important issues presented herein.

Under the requirements of <u>Savoie v. State</u> 422 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 1982), each of the criteria for exercise of the court's discretion to consider and decide the jury verdict issue is met: (i) the issue has been properly briefed, (ii) it has been strenuously argued, and (iii) it will be dispositive of the case by requiring a new trial. <u>Id.</u> at 312.

Moreover, resolution of the issue "will avoid a piecemeal determination of the case." Savoie, 422 So. 2d at 312. If this Court declined to consider the jury verdict issue but reversed on the seat belt issue, the trial court could very well make the same mistake twice and submit a fundamentally defective verdict form to the jury. A final determination of this issue now will avoid any mistake and promote "the efficient and speedy

administration of justice ... Id. (quoting from Zirin v. Charles

Pfizer & Co., 128 So. 2d 594, 596 (Fla. 1961)).

The jury verdict issue needs to be decided by the highest court of this state in its supervisory capacity for guidance of the bench and bar in applying a fundamental concept which this Court imbedded in the tort law of this state. See Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 1973). Petitioner therefore respectfully urges the Court to consider and decide Issue II, in addition to the seat belt issue presented in Issue I.

#### ARGUMENT WITH REGARD TO FIRST ISSUE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING VWOA'S CAUSATIVE SEAT BELT PROFFER WHICH WAS RELEVANT TO CONSIDERATION OF BOTH THE DESIGN OF THE 1974 VW SUPER BEETLE AND THE COMPARATIVE FAULT OF THE PLAINTIFF WALTER LONG.

"[T]he safety benefits of wearing seat belts are not in doubt." M.V.M.A. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_\_, 77 L.Ed. 2d 443, 446 (1983).

Several of the early seat belt cases barred seat belt evidence at least partially because the courts therein were not presented with sufficient consensus as to the utility and safety value of seat belts. In its 1966 decision rejecting the use of seat belt evidence, the Florida First District Court of Appeal in the case of Brown v. Kendrick, 192 So. 2d 49 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966), noted that "there has been and still exists controversy over the safety feature of the seat belts." Id. at 51. Some decisions from other jurisdictions during the late 1960's and early 1970's also reflect judicial uncertainty about the effects of seat belt usage. See Petersen v. Klos, 426 F.2d 199, 204

(5th Cir. 1970) (predicting Mississippi law); Britton v. Doehring, 286 Ala. 498, 242 So. 2d 666 (1970); Miller v. Miller, 273 N.C. 228, 160 S.E.2d 65, 69-70 (1968).

These decisions are historical relics which should be accorded no precedential value in modern Florida jurisprudence. There now is a clear consensus that use of seat belts substantially reduces the chance of serious injury and loss of life in automobile accidents. The Supreme Court of the United States has recently stated as an accepted fact "that, if used, seat belts unquestionably would save thousands of lives and would prevent tens of thousands of crippling injuries." Motor Vehicle Manufacturers Association of the United States, Inc. v. State Farm Mut. Automobile Ins. Co.,

\_\_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_\_, 77 L.Ed. 2d 443, 464 (1983). The Court thus found that "the safety benefits of wearing seat belts are not in doubt."

Id. The Supreme Court's recent observations regarding the undisputed effects of seat belt usage parallels information provided to everyone who seeks a Florida driver's license:

SAFETY BELTS - All new automobiles are equipped with safety belts. They have <u>proved</u> to be a great factor in reducing deaths and injuries - when worn by persons involved in accidents. You are urged to use seat belts at all times while driving - or riding in - an automobile or truck.

Florida Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles, Florida Driver's Handbook, p. 66. Voluminous statistical and scholarly authorities, undoubtedly presented to this Court in the pending Lafferty and Pasakarnis appeals, irrebuttably support these factual assertions.

It is clear beyond any reasonable doubt that the use of seat belts reduces the risk of serious injury and death in automobile accidents. Common sense and experience gained over the passage of time has eroded the basis for those early decisions, such as Brown v. Kendrick, supra, which questioned the safety value of seat belts. It is simply incorrect to question the reduction in serious injury and death associated with seat belt usage.

A. Florida Courts Should Consider Seat Belt Evidence In Automotive Product Liability Cases As Bearing On Comparative Negligence, Avoidable Consequences, And Mitigation Of Damages.

Over the years, many state and federal courts have had occasion to consider the admissibility of seat belt evidence. Some courts have rejected the admissibility of such evidence. Other courts have allowed juries to consider such evidence. See Insurance Co. of North Am. v. Pasakarnis, 425 So. 2d 1141, 1143 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (Schwartz, J., dissenting). The central principle common to cases considering seat belt evidence is that it is "relevant" and just to do so where there is competent evidence, usually in the form of expert testimony, of a causal link between a plaintiff's injuries and the failure to wear a seat belt. See, e.g., Glover v. Daniels, 310 F.Supp. 750 (N.D. Miss. 1970); <u>Dudanas v. Plate</u>, 44 Ill. App. 3d 901, 358 N.E.2d 1171 (5th Dist. Ill. 1976); Barry v. Coca Cola Co., 99 N.J. Super. 270, 239 A.2d 273 (1967); Spier v. Barker, 35 N.Y.2d 444, 363 N.Y.S. 2d 916, 323 N.E.2d 164 (1974); Parise

v. Fehnel, 406 A.2d 345 (Sup. Ct. Pa. 1979); Sonnier v. Ramsey, 424 S.W.2d 684 (Tex. Cir. App. 1968); Foley v. City of West Allis, 335 N.W.2d 824 (Wis. 1983). Although there is substantial variance between the legal theories under which seat belt evidence is admitted in these jurisdictions, it is clear that the so-called "seat belt defense" requires, first, proof of the plaintiff's nonuse of an available occupant restraint system, and second, proof of a causal connection between plaintiff's injuries and plaintiff's nonuse of the available occupant restraints.

Aside from this common principle of causation, however, different formulations of proximate cause, comparative negligence, mitigation of damages, strict liability and crashworthiness affect the persuasive value of cases adopting or rejecting the seat belt defense in other jurisdictions. For example, in some jurisdictions, unlike Florida, comparative negligence may not be a defense to strict liability. See e.g., Vizzini v. Ford Motor Co., 569 F.2d 754 (3d Cir. 1977) (applying Pennsylvania law). Other jurisdictions decided the seat belt issue before adopting comparative negligence. See footnote 1, infra. Still other jurisdictions do not have "pure" comparative negligence, (as does Florida), or have different legal standards of proximate causation. Admission of evidence of seat belt non-use in Florida is harmonious with and should be compelled by Florida's rules of comparative negligence, strict liability, crashworthiness, mitigation of damages, and other applicable principles of modern Florida jurisprudence. Such evidence, moreover, is not automatically

preclusive of recovery as, for example, under older contributory negligence law. Additionally, in automotive products liability claims which impugn the safety of the vehicle, competent evidence about these safety devices is plainly "relevant" under modern standards enshrined in the Florida Evidence Code. Finally, receipt of such evidence effectuates important public policy objectives.

Previous Florida treatment of seat belt evidence predates substantial changes in Florida law which have removed the basis for previous exclusions.

The original Florida decision excluding seat belt evidence, Brown v. Kendrick, 192 So. 2d 49 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966), was cited by the First District Court of Appeal in the instant case. Brown was a case under Florida's guest statute, which required a passenger to prove gross negligence in order to recover against a driver. Fla. Stat. § 320.59 (1965). Seat belt evidence in that case was offered as proof of contributory negligence, in order to completely bar the passenger-plaintiff's claim. Id. at 50-51. The Brown court's refusal to allow seat belt evidence was based on perceived controversy over the effectiveness of seat belts as well as judicial reluctance to establish seat belt non-usage as a complete bar to a plaintiff's recovery. See also Chandler Leasing Corp. v. Gibson, 227 So. 2d 889 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969).

In the sixteen years between <u>Brown</u> and <u>Lafferty</u>, Florida tort law underwent substantial changes. In 1973, this Honorable Court adopted comparative negligence in Florida in the landmark

case of <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u>, 280 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 1973). Significantly, the "crashworthiness" doctrine -- a theory imposing a duty to take injury-minimizing precautions in anticipation of foreseeable automobile accidents -- was also adopted in Florida during this period, as was the doctrine of strict liability. <u>See Ford Motor Co. v. Evancho</u>, 327 So. 2d 201 (Fla. 1976); West v. Caterpillar Tractor Co., 336 So. 2d 80 (Fla. 1976). Of course, the guest statute has been abolished since <u>Brown</u> was decided. Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standard (FMVSS) 208, requiring integrated lap and shoulder safety belts in all automobiles, has come into being since the <u>Brown</u> decision. <u>See</u> FMVSS 208, 49 C.F.R. § 571.208 (1967 and amendments). Finally, and perhaps most importantly, consensus has now developed regarding the undeniable effect of seat belt usage in reducing or preventing incidences of serious injury and death from automobile accidents.

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