IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)

)

)

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

SID J. WHITE MAR 12 1964 017

Chieff Deputy Clienk

WOOA

VOLKSWAGEN OF AMERICA, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

FIRST DISTRICT COURT APPEAL NO. AS-291

CASE NO.: 64,785

WALTER LEIGHTON LONG and FLORENCE LONG, his wife,

Respondents,

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS, WALTER LEIGHTON LONG and FLORENCE LONG, his wife

> S. PERRY PENLAND, ESQUIRE PENLAND, SEELIE & PENLAND, P.A. 1103 Blackstone Building Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 632-2100

Attorneys for Respondents.

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

Conspicuously, no inquiry was made as to whether or not functional seatbelts existed in the vehicle. Defendant also examined Plaintiff, Long, his wife, investigating officers, emergency relief personnel, photographers, eyewitnesses, a VW factory designer, a VW engineer, a VW master mechanic and a VW field representative. Any one could have established the presence or absence of this vital evidence. If functional seatbelts existed, VW had the duty to inquire in the trial court or did VW deliberately decline for undisclosed reasons.

5,

PLAINTIFF HAS NO PRE-ACCIDENT DUTY TO AVOID THE CONSEQUENCES OR MITIGATE DAMAGES WITHOUT NOTICE.

VW says that Plaintiff has a duty to avoid forseeable consequences or mitigate damages <u>prior</u> to an accident and relies upon <u>S.C. Loveland, Inc. v. East West Towing, Inc.</u>, 609 Fed.2d 160, 5th Circuit, cert. den., 446 U.S. 918 1979. This factually dissimilar case in admiralty found the Defendant, State of Florida, guilty of contributory negligence for it's failure to call the Coast Guard once it was notified of the impending danger of a floating barge near Defendant's bridge.

Mr. Long had no prior knowledge or notice of the impending danger of the blowout. The Loveland decision is devoid of guidance on this issue.

Similarly, the <u>Adams v. Warren Rental and Service</u> <u>Center, Inc.</u>, 352 So.2d 555, (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), cert denied, 364 So.2d 880, (Fla. 1978), offers no guidance to the Court. The decision cites no authority and bears no factual similarity to the case at bar. Mr. Adams or his co-workers changed the location of end motors that served as guardrails and thereafter, Mr. Adams situated himself outside the motors on the end of a scaffold some distance in the air. He then sued Defendant for not having a permanent guard.

Mr. Long did not sue for failing to have available seatbelts after removing them himself. It is a ludicrous fact comparison.

LONG MAKES NO CLAIM OF CRASHWORTHINESS

VW is clearly mistating the case is saying Plaintiffs' claim in a crashworthy action. It is untrue. Plaintiff

abandoned the seat defect allegation and offered no proof on the issue. This action was tried on the primary issue of a defective suspension system and handling system. Automobile products liability claims have been considered upon defects which, (a) primarily cause accidents and, (b) secondarily enhance injury. Mr. Long's complaints against VW are not and cannot be made second collision or crashworthy defects and there is no authority nor reason for a seatbelt defense in a primary defect case. Each out-of-state citation of VW which embraces the seatbelt defense is a crashworthy or second collision action. For example, Wilson v. Volkswagen of America, Inc., 445 F.Supp. 1368 (E.D. Va. 1978), the Plaintiff involved a defective roof causing spinal fracture after collision. In Melia v. Ford Motor Company. 534 Fed.2d 795 (8th Circuit 1976), the Plaintiff contended that the doorlatch was defective and would open upon impact. Curtis v. General Motors Corporation, 649 Fed.2d 808, (10th Circuit 1981), Plaintiff contended that the convertible automobile manufactured by General Motors had inadequate roll protection for it's occupants after first collision.

Defendant's position in the case at bar is without precedent in this country.

THE LAFFERTY COURT IS EMMINENTLY CORRECT IN IT'S REFUSAL TO ALLOW SEATBELT EVIDENCE.

Evidence of enhanced injury for non-use of seatbelt is as much hindsight from Mr. Long's point of view as it was held to be for Lorraine Lafferty. The evidentary problem created

in regard to relevancy of facts and circumstances surrounding whether or not the Plaintiff should have used his seatbelt <u>before</u> the accident is likewise applicable to Mr. Long's situation. Therefore, no logical reason exists why the opinion in <u>Lafferty v. Allstate</u> should not control the issue before this Court if VW had established the existence of functional seatbelts at trial.

Defendant boldly states that the Court's concern of windfalls to tort feasors is not relevant to automobile manufacturers.

The Plaintiff submits it is fundamentally wrong for VW to place upon the market at great profit a deceptively defective automobile which paralyzed Mr. Long to now take advantage of Mr. Long's ignorance of the defect known to VW.

VW's insistence against the Court's deference to the legislature is ill-founded and evidently misunderstood. A statute such as the one requiring child restraint systems for children under five (Florida Statute 1983 316.613) are resolutions reflecting acceptance of the practice by a majority of the population. It encompasses a social attitude and widespread practice for great social need, as well as notice to the population of the requirement. It is this aspect of notice which Defendant overlooks that rightfully concerns the <u>Lafferty</u> Court. Defendant's compounded analysis of common law and statutory law is unconvincing. Most importantly, to grant the relief sought by Defendant VW

would be direct derogation of the legislative intent of the recent child restraint system law which in part states:

The failure to provide and use a child passenger restraint shall not be considered comparable negligence, nor shall such failure be admissible as evidence in the trial of any action with regard to negligence.

Defendant's additional policy attacks on <u>Lafferty</u> are equally ill-founded. A footnote cited frequently by Defendant as their springboard for majority use of seatbelt upon which this Court should mandate the seatbelt defense of VW has a further enlightening feature, to-wit: twenty to forty percent (20% to 40%) of the public opposes wearing seatbelts, an even larger portion of the population simply does not wear them because they forget or find them inconvenient and bothersome. (<u>Motor Vehicles Manufactures Association v. State Farm Mutual</u>, 77 Lawyers Edition 443, at pg 460-65, footnote 18).

A careful survey of the jurisdictions which have considered the seatbelt evidence as a defense in any manner have held it to be inadmissible by a significant majority of 24 to 6.

The safety belt defense does not conform readily with the traditional tort doctrines of contributory negligence, avoidable consequences or assumption of risk, and it violates the notion that the Defendant "takes the Plaintiff as he finds him".

Closely related to doctrinal objections is the argument that there can be no negligence unless the Plaintiff has

violated a statutory or common law duty. Most courts have held that there is not a common law duty to use an available safety belt, and that a statutory duty cannot be inferred from the existence of statutes requiring the installation, but not use, of safety belts.

To penalize the plaintiff for not buckling up is a matter of public policy properly reserved for legislative bodies.

It is seriously questioned that safety belts are true safety devices. In some instances, safety belts may inflict more harm than they prevent, such as being trapped in a burning or submerged vehicle.

Courts hve noted that the vast majority of vehicle occupants do not use available safety belts, and align themselves with a majority rule of rejecting the safety belt defense.

The practical implications of allowing the safety belt defense have given courts pause. It is argued that the defense would unduly increase the length and expense of trials, as a battle of experts is likely to ensue. In addition, submitting the safety belt defense to the jury would encourage rampant speculation as to what might have happened. Finally, the courts have pondered whether allowance of safety belt evidence would imply that every conceivable safety device (head rest, helmet, etc.) must be used.

Courts have argued that it would be unfair to reduce the innocent Plaintiff's damages because he/she did not use an available safety belt. The negligent defendant would receive an undeserved windfall because he/she fortuitously injured an unbuckled Plaintiff.

It is further thought that safety belt defense would create an invidious distinction between vehicle occupants because the possibility of a reduction in damages exists only when the vehicle is equipped with safety belts, and not all vehicles are required to have safety belts.

The courts have been exercising judicial wisdom in refusing to accept a seatbelt defense in non-crashworthy cases such as this one.

In summary, there is an undeniable absence of essential proof of available operable seatbelts in the vehicle which eliminates the issue. There is no reliable authority of pre-accident duty of Plaintiff to avoid accidents or injury. The <u>Lafferty</u> Court is eminently correct and the relief sought by Defendant is directly contrary to clear and unequivocal legislative intent. To grant Defendant's relief requires the Court to violate constitutional guarantees of the Plaintiff.

The Court should affirm the lower courts.

ARGUMENT WITH REGARD TO SECOND ISSUE

THERE WAS NO ERROR, FUNDAMENTAL OR OTHERWISE, IN THE USE OF THE DEFENDANT VOLKSWAGEN'S VERDICT FORM, OF WHICH NOW THEY PROTEST

With respect to the second issue contained in the Defendant, Volkswagen's, initial brief, the Plaintiff reserves his position as stated in his Motions to Quash and Dismiss and his Motion for Sanctions. The verdict form issue should not be subject to review as this issue was per curiam affirmed with no opinion by the First District Court of Appeal. The Clarifying Order of the First District Court of Appeal specifically limited itself to the "seat belt" issue of <u>Lafferty</u>. The plaintiff does feel compelled to make the following academic observations.

The Defendant, Volkswagen, claims in it's second issue that the trial judge committed fundmental error by attributing the negligence of a non-party to the Defendant Volkswagen. This alleged issue clearly and completely mistates not only the facts but also the applicable law on this subject.

The Defendant, Volkswagen, states that the Plaintiff Florence Long was not a party to the action of her Plaintiff husband, Walter Leighton Long for damages against the Defendant, Volkswagen. The Plaintiff, Mrs. Long, is a party Plaintiff with her Plaintiff husband with a claim for loss of consortium which was filed in a separate count. The Defendant Volkswagen's contention that the Plaintiff, Mrs. Long, is a "non-party" in relation to her Plaintiff husband's claims

against the Defendant, Volkswagen, ignores reality. The Defendant, Volkswagen, cites no authority for this novel proposition of law that is contrary to the case law of Florida [see <u>Sundstrom vs. Grover</u>, 423 So. 2d 637 (4th DCA, 1982) and <u>Florida Farm Bureau Insurance Company vs. Government Employees</u> Insurance Company, 387 So. 2d 932 (Fla. 1980)].

The Defendant, Volkswagen, protests the verdict form used in the case at bar constitutes fundamental error.

This verdict form was created and insisted upon by the Defendant, Volkswagen, in the trial court.

VOLKSWAGEN (LEVIN): "Both sides have agreed upon that form. That form is acceptable to Mr. Seelie and Mr. Penland." (TR 1019)

THE COURT: "Okay. Then I disregard the Penland form of verdict; right?"

MR. SEELIE: "Yes, sir."

THE COURT: "And you agreed on the Rumberger form, the Volkswagen form." (TR 1019-20)

Before the verdict form was explained to the jury, the Defendant, Volkswagen, failed to object to any alleged defect in it's verdict form.

> THE COURT: "Before I get to the verdict, do either of you want anything at side bar, either plaintiff or defendant?"

RUMBERGER: "No, sir, Your Honor."

PENLAND: "Not for the plaintiff, Your Honor, Thank you." (TR 1095).

After their verdict form was explained to the jury, the Defendant once again failed to point to a scintilla of

error in it's verdict form which the Defendant, Volkswagen, now claims constituted fundamental error.

THE COURT: "... you will now retire--let me ask counsel. Is there anything you want to take up?"

RUMBERGER: "No sir, not on behalf of the defendant, Your Honor."

THE COURT: "Mr. Penland?"

PENLAND: "No, thank you." (TR 1100).

The form of verdict must be objected to at trial, or the defect is waived. As Justice Sebring said for the Supreme Court of Florida in <u>Higbee v. Dorgo</u>, <u>Hotel Runnymede v. Dorigo</u> 66 So. 2d 684 (Fla., 1953),

> "No objection was made by either party to the form of the verdicts returned Everett J. Higbee and Carolyn R. Higbee v. Werner Dorigo. Therefore, any defect as to form was waived."

The Volkswagen verdict form is not in error at all. The Defendant, Volkswagen, claims that separate verdicts should have been used in each "cause of action." This proposition is diametrically opposed to the case law of Florida as set out in the <u>Sundstrom</u> case which is precisely on point as to the apportionment of negligence between a Plaintiff spouse, a contributing tort feasor spouse, and another tort feasor. <u>Sundstrom</u> was a suit by a wife and her dentist husband against an oral surgeon for extracting the wife's wrong tooth. The Defendant oral surgeon did not counterclaim the dentist husband for contribution but did raise the affirmative defense of the comparative negligence of both Plaintiffs, as did the

defendant, Volkswagen, in the case at bar. At trial, on special interrogatory verdict, the jury found the Defendant oral surgeon to be 10% negligent, the wife to be 35% negligent, and the dentist husband to be 55% negligent. The jury awarded \$20,000 to the wife and \$10,000 to the dentist husband. The trial court reduced the wife's award to \$2,000 and she appealed. On appeal, both parties agreed that the wife's award should have been reduced to \$13,000 based on her being free of negligence to the extent of 65%. The District Court also agreed with this conclusion citing Moore v. St. Cloud, 337 So. 982 (4th DCA, 1976), and reversed. The case at bar is identical to the Sundstrom case on this issue. The award of the Plaintiff, Walter Leighton Long, should be \$1,300,000 as he is free of negligence to the extent of 65% on his total jury awarded damages of \$2,000,000. Two separate verdict forms are clearly improper both in Sundstrom and in the case at bar.

In <u>Sundstrom</u>, as well as the case at bar, the tort feasor Defendant elected not to counterclaim the tort feasor spouse for contribution. The contribution action was available by statute to the Defendant, Volkswagen, (see Uniform Contribution Among Tort Feasors Act, Florida Statutes, Chapter 768.31). The Defendant, Volkswagen's, failure to seek contribution from a joint tort feasor certainly does not render the Plaintiff, Mr. Long, a "non-party" whose negligence cannot be taken into consideration as was done in Sundstrom.

The Defendant, Volkswagen, claims that the Plaintiff, Mr. Long, has indirectly violated the doctrine of interspousal immunity with the use of the Volkswagen verdict form. This is not the case. The Defendant, Volkswagen's, remedy to this situation is contribution. Contribution by one joint tort feasor is clearly available from another joint tort feasor where the other tort feasor is the spouse of the injured person who has received damages from the first tort feasor. <u>Florida Farm Bureau Insurance Co. v. Government Employees</u> Insurance Co.

The Defendant, Volkswagen, next claims that the use of their verdict form constituted fundamental error and cites as dispositive of the issue the case of <u>Keys Co. v. Sens</u>, 382 So. 2d 1273 (3rd DCA, 1980). The Defendant, Volkswagen, attempts to mislead this Honorable Court by claiming that <u>Keys</u> states that unobjected to defects in verdict forms constitutes fundamental error. This issue was never examined in <u>Keys</u>. This case involved a jury verdict in which, under the theory of respondent superior, an employer was held vicariously liable for a greater amount of compensatory damages than the actively negligent employee. The court held this to be fundamental error. The court never addressed the issue on the merits of whether a defective verdict form can constitute fundamental error. The court did say,

> "By so ruling with reference to the judgment in this case we do not hold or imply that judgments based on verdicts that are incorrect in form, or

which are inconsistent, or which may be inadequate or excessive in amount, present fundamental error. See, for example, cases cited in footnote 3, supra."

Footnote 3 cites the <u>Higbee v. Dorido</u> case which, as cited earlier, stated that defects as to the form of a verdict are waived unless objected to at trial. The Defendant, Volkswagen, has cited no Florida case which holds that verdict form defect are fundamental, nor do any such cases exist.

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